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rporation v. De Spirito Dog.

INTHE UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF GEORGIA
ATLANTA DIVISION
CIBA Vision Corporation,
Plaintiff,
V. : CIVIL ACTION NO.
1:09-cv-01343-JOF
Joseph De Spirito,

Defendant.

OPINION & ORDER

counterclaims [13]; Hoosier Eye Doctor's motion to intervene as Defendant ar
Counterclaim Plaintiff [19]; Plaintiffsunopposed madn to extend time to complete
discovery [26]; and Plaintiff’'s motion to stay discovery [27].
l. Background

A. Procedural History and Allegations of Counterclaim

Plaintiff, CIBA Vision Corporation, filed suit against Defendant, Joseph De Spirito
on May 19, 2009. In general terms, CIBA, a manufacturer of contact lenses, avers in
complaint that it has federal trademark protection for AIR OPTIX brand contact lenses,

wellas NIGHT & DAY and DAILIES. CIBA further alleges that Joseph De Spirito, through

This matter is before the court on Plaintiffs motion to dismiss amended
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his business Hoosier Eye Doctor in Bloomington, Indiana, formerly purchased contact len
from CIBA.! But as of the date of the complaint, De Spirito was not an authorize
distributor of CIBA Vision products and was not authorized to use CIBA’'s AIR OPTIX
marks.

Beginning in April 2008, however, Defendant De Spirito registered approximatel
36 domain names incorporating or mimicking CIBA'’s trademarks. He then used some
the sites to post commercial websites as a means to sell AIR OPTIX branded contact len
According to Plaintiff, Defendant works thvert traffic to his websites by using CIBA’s
trademarks as meta tags in the source cotteeahfringing sites. Plaintiff sent a cease and
desist letter to Defendant De Spirito on January 20, 2009.

In its complaint, Plaintiff raises claims of trademark infringement, unfair competition
dilution and cyber-squatting. Plaintiff also asks the couet alia to enter a permanent
injunction barring Defendant from using the trademarks and directing Defendant De Spir
to transfer the infringing domain names to Plaintiff.

Defendant filed an answer and counterclaims on July 14, 2009, and an amendn
to that answer and counterclaim on August 7, 2009. In his answer, Defendant gener

avers that Plaintiff knew of his websites awn provided suggestions for their design so

'Because the court can resolve the instant motion on other grounds, the court leg
for another day the question of whether Defendant De Spirito has standing independer
non-party Hoosier Eye Doctor, Inc. to raise counterclaims.
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that there would not be trademark issues. Defendant contends that Hoosier Eye Doctof
only sold one brand of contact lenses, and that is CIBA Vision. CIBA originally agreed
allow Hoosier Eye Doctor to sell contact lenses over a website, and even provided sugge
changes to Defendant’s websites, including offering coupons which provided rebates for
purchase of CIBA contact lenses through Hoosier Eye Doctor.

Defendant then avers that CIBA “permits other business entities to sell its produg
through websites, and to use its trademarks in conjunction with those Internet business
See Amended Answer & Counterclaim, § 14. “Upon information and belief, CIBA Vision
has entered agreements with other bissirentities which require it not to sell its product
to Joseph De Spirito or Hoosier Eye Doctor, Inc., or others who would sell them for pric
lower than those agreed to by the conspirady.) 1 15. “Upon information and belief,
CIBA Vision has entered agreements with other business entities that are designed to &
third-party optometrists in tying eye exam services to the purchase of CIBA braj
products.”ld., 1 16.

Defendant further contends that CIBA did not raise concerns about Hoosier E
Doctor until “one or more other business entities complain[ed] to CIBA Vision that Josey
De Spirito and/or Hoosier Eye Doctor, Inc. were selling competitive products for price

sufficiently low as to cause them to compete on prite,”|| 18. As aresult, Defendant De
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Spirito asserts, CIBA is refusing to sellpi®duct to Defendant on the same terms as it does

to other eye doctordd., T 19.
To more fully understand the nature of Plaintiff's complaint and Defendant’y

counterclaim, a bit of context is requiredndeusers of contact lenses are not permitted to

\"xJ

purchase the lenses without a prescription. Eye doctors are required by law to specify a

brand of contact lenses in the prescriptions they write. Venahay not substitute a

different brand of contact lenses. Therefore, Defendant De Spirito contends, contact Iens

manufacturers have incentive to entice eye dotiqrgescribe their brand through disguised
kick-backs, whereas the manufacturers do nag lize same incentive with Internet vendors.
Id., T 26. CIBA attempts to exclude intermehdors so that eye doctors can charge higher
prices. Id., § 28. This action imposes an additional barrier on consumers who must ing
the cost of a new eye examget a new prescription with a different type of contact lens.
Id., 1 30. For this reason, Defendant asserts that each brand of contact lens defines its
relevant marketld., T 31.

In unnamed Count | of Defendant’s counterclaim, Defendant asserts that CIBA
conduct caused Defendant De Spirito and Hoosier Eye Doctor to “reasonably rely upon t
agreement to and cooperation with the openaof the websites. CIBA Vision cannot now
withhold that agreement and cooperation without compensation.y 33. In unnamed

Count Il, Defendant avers that CIBA’s discrimination against him constitutes
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“impermissible unfair competition.rd., § 35. In unnamed Count Ill, Defendant avers that
CIBA’s agreements with other businesses and discrimination against Defendant and
business “for selling below the agreed prices constitutes an impermissible restraint
interstate trade in violation of the antitrust laws of the United Statds.Y 37.

On August 17, 2009, Plaintiff wrote to Defendant asking Defendant to drop it
federal antitrust counterclaim. Plaintiff identified what it believed to be the infirmities ir
Defendant’s counterclaim. Plaintiff's counsel also wrote a separate letter asking Defend
to drop the remaining two counterclaims which purportedly would be state law claim
Defendant did not drop the counterclaims aralrfiff filed the instant motion to dismiss.

In its response to Plaintiff's motion to dismiss counterclaims, Defendant’s couns
appears to make substantive assertions concerning the counterclaims that do not apps
Defendant’s amended answer and counterclaim. The court will discuss those additio
allegations and consider them in conjunction with Plaintiff's motion. Because the col
concludes that even with those additional allegations, Defendant’s counterclaim would f;
the court finds it serves judicial economy to consider them as if they appeared in
amended counterclaim without requiring Defendant to formally amend his answer a
counterclaims.

In his response to Plaintiff’'s motion to dismiss, Defendant clarifies his antitrust cau

of action by arguing that his counterclaim supports three plausible antitrust violations
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CIBA Vision: (1) discriminating against the online sales of its contact lenses so as to cre

ate

an artificial profit margin for eye doctors over online vendors, thereby creating a de fagto

kickback; (2) refusal to deal with Defendant De Spirito; and (3) bad faith filing of the instamnt

litigation so as to protect “this regime of disguised kickbacks.” To support his contention

about discriminating against online contact lens dealers, Defendant De Spirito points t

consent decree from an antitrust action brought by over 30 states which required Cl

Vision to refrain from discriminating against online sales of its contact lenses. By requiring

eye doctors to prescribe a specific brand of contact lenses, Defendant De Spirito conte
each brand is a relevant market unto itself. Defendant De Spirito states that CIBA Visio
refusal to deal is not permissible when, as here, a party uses its market power in a way

leverages power. Finally, Defendant De Bpistates that it is obvious that CIBA’s

trademark and cyber-squatting claims are without merit because CIBA approved Defendant

De Spirito’s websites. Therefore, CIBA’'s complaint must have been in bad faith.

The court notes that at the time of the filing of the Joint Preliminary Report and

Discovery Plan, Defendant reserved the option of arguing that the court is without personal

jurisdiction over Defendant Joseph De Spirito and the parties were exploring whether to add

Hoosier Eye Doctor, Inc., as a party to the suit. Hoosier Eye Doctor filed the instant moti

to intervene on December 4, 2009.
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B. Contentions
Shortly after Defendant filed its amended answer and counterclaims, Plaintiff filg

the instant motion to dismiss the amended counterclaims. Plaintiff asserts that Defenda

d

nt's

counterclaim does not meet the Supreme Court’'s standards governing the specifigity

required for pleadings under the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. Because itis Defendal

second amended counterclaim, Plaintiff asks that the court dismiss it without leave to

plead. Specifically, Plaintiff argues that Defendant fails to identify any particular cause pf

nt's

re-

action. He does not describe which aspect of “antitrust law” he contends Plaintiff hias

violated and fails to identify any “business entities” with which Plaintiff has conspired, @

-

any information — times, places, dates, people — about the alleged conspiracy. Defendant

does not allege any adverse impact on interbrand competition and any relevant mar

ket.

Finally, Plaintiff argues that Defendant De Spirito does not have standing to raise @n

antitrust claim and has not alleged an antitrust violation because he may continue to [sell

contact lenses in his capacity as an eye doctor.

Defendant De Spirito responds that hen@ required to specify whether he is
proceeding under 8 1 or § 2 for his antitrdkgation, although heontends that CIBA's
actions violate § 2 if CIBA acted independently and 8 1 if CIBA acted under agreement w

eye doctors. He also avers that his counterclaim is “plausible” Uindenbly andlqgbal.




II.  Discussion
A. Pleading Standard on Motion to Dismiss

With the cases dell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544 (2007) amshcr oft

v.Igbal, 129 S. Ct. 1937 (2009), the Supreme Court has clarified the landscape surrounding

the standards for notice pleading Snaltrainal v. Coca-Cola Co., 578 F.3d 1252 (11Cir.
2009), the Eleventh Circuit described the impaciwbdmbly andlgbal.

Although it must accept well-pled facts as true, the court is not
required to accept a plaintiff's legal conclusioAshcroft v. Igbal, 556 U.S.
----, 129 S. Ct. 1937 (2009) (noting “the tenet that a court must accept as true
all of the allegations contained in a complaint is inapplicable to legal
conclusions”). In evaluating the sufficiency of a plaintiff's pleadings, we
make reasonable inferences in Plaintiff's favor, “but we are not required to
draw plaintiff’'s inference.’Aldana v. Del Monte Fresh Produce, N.A., Inc.,
416 F.3d 1242, 1248 (11th Cir.2005). Similarly, “unwarranted deductions of
fact” in a complaint are not admitted tnge for the purpose of testing the
sufficiency of plaintiff's allegationsld.; seealso Igbal, 129 S. Ct. at 1951
(stating conclusory allegations are “not entitled to be assumed true”).

A complaint may be dismissed if the facts as pled do not state a claim
for relief that is plausible on its facBeelqgbal, 129 S. Ct. at 1950 (explaining
“only a complaint that states a plausible claim for relief survives a motion to
dismiss”); Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 561-62, 570 (2007)
(retiring the prior “unless it appears beyond doubt that the plaintiff can prove
no set of facts” standard). fwombly, the Supreme Court emphasized a
complaint “requires more than labels and conclusions, and a formulaic
recitation of the elements of a cause of action will not @edmbly, 550 U.S.
at 555. Factual allegations in a complaint need not be detailed but “must be
enough to raise a right to relief above the speculative level on the assumption
that all the allegations in the complaint are true (even if doubtful in fadt).”
at 555 (internal citations and emphasis omitted).
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More recently, ingbal, the Supreme Court reiterated that although

Rule 8 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure does not require detailed

factual allegations, it does demand “more than an unadorned,

the-defendant-unlawfully-harmed-me accusatiogbal, 129 S. Ct. at 1949.

A complaint must state a plausible claim for relief, and “[a] claim has facial

plausibility when the plaintiff pleads factual content that allows the court to

draw the reasonable inference that the defendant is liable for the misconduct

alleged.” Id. The mere possibility the defendant acted unlawfully is

insufficient to survive a motion to dismissd. The well-pled allegations

must nudge the claim “across the line from conceivable to plausible.”

Twombly, 550 U.S. at 570.
578 F.3d at 1260-61, 1268 (further noting that “complaint fails to allege when or with who
[defendant] entered into a conspiracy . . . The scope of the conspiracy and its participg
are undefined” and rejecting conspiracy allegations “based on information and belief” th
are without “factual content”). Defendant De Spirito attempts to distinguish these cag
away on their facts, but this effort is unsuccessful. None of the cases is limited to its fa(
but rather together they clarify the facathcomplaints must be plausible even at the
dismissal stage. The court must next apply standard to the counterclaims in this case.

B. Antitrust Claims

Defendant De Spirito does not specify under which section of the Sherman Act |
antitrust violations arise. As best the court can determine, one of Defendant De Spirit
antitrust claims can be characterized as refusal to deal. The offense of monopoly ur

Section 2 of the Sherman Act has two elements: “(1) possession of monopoly power in

relevant market and (2) willful acquisition or maintenance of that power as distinguish
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from growth or development as a consequence of a superior product, business acume
historic accident."Morris Communications Corp. v. PGA Tour, Inc., 364 F.3d 1288, 1293-

94 (11" Cir. 2004). Monopoly power inaides power to exclude competition from the
relevant marketld. at 1294. The second element recognizes that certain practices can h;

the effect of preventing or excluding competition in the relevant matéet.

Morris Communications Corp. v. PGA Tour, Inc., 364 F.3d 1288, 1294-95 (1 Cir. 2004)

(quotations and citations omitted).

CIBA Vision discriminated against on-line sales of contact lenses in order to create

Two theories exist upon which to predicate a unilateral refusal to deal claim:
(1) the intent test and (2) the essential facility test. Under the intent test, it is
unlawful for a monopolist to maintain or extend its monopoly power by
intentionally engaging in conduct thatnecessarily excludes competitors and
Impairs competition. Under the essential facility test, a company that has
exclusive control over a facility essential to effective competition may not
deny potential competitors access to that facility on reasonable terms and
conditions if to do so would create or maintain monopoly power in the
relevant market. The plaintiff has the burden of proving that the defendant
controls an essential facility that cannot be practically or economically
duplicated.

In the absence of any purpose to create or maintain a monopoly,
however, a company may deal or refuse to deal with whomever it pleases.
Even a company with monopoly power has no general duty to cooperate with
its business rivals and may refuse to deal with them if valid business reasons
exist for such refusal. ...[R]efusal to deal that is designed to protect or
further the legitimate business purposes of a defendant does not violate the
antitrust laws, even if that refusal injures competition.

Defendant De Spirito’s other antitrust claims seem to relate to an allegation th
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artificial profit market resulting imde facto kickbacks to the company. This allegation

relates to Section 1 of the Sherman Act. Section 1 of the Sherman Act provides that

“[e]very contract, combination in the form of trust or otherwise, or conspiracy, in restraint

of trade or commerce among theveral states, or with foreign nations, is declared to be
illegal.” 15 U.S.C. 8§ 1. “Section One applies only to agreements between two or mg
businesses; it does not cover unilateral conduigdahi sh Broadcasting System of Florida,
Inc. v. Clear Channel Communications, Inc., 376 F.3d 1065, 1071 (1 Tir. 2004) (citing
Fisher v. City of Berkeley, 475 U.S. 260, 266 (1986) (“Even where a single firm’s restraintg
directly affect prices and have the same economic effect as concerted action might h3
there can be no liability under § 1 in the absence of agreement.”).

Further, under “Eleventh Circuit case law, alleged Section One agreements analy
under the rule of reason require a plaintiff ‘to prove (1) the anticompetitive effect of th
defendant’s conduct on the relevant marked, @) that the defendant’s conduct has no pro-
competitive benefit or justification.”ld. (citations omitted). “In alleging ‘the
anticompetitive effect of the defendant’s conduct,” an antitrust plaintiff must show harm
competition rather than to competitors. That is, the ‘anticompetitive effects’ are measut
by their impact on the market rather than by their impact on competitaks.”

Finally, Defendant De Spirito advances the argument that CIBA Vision’s filing of

the instant lawsuit is a violation of antitrust law because it seeks to protect the alleg
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“kickbacks.” The Eleventh Circuit, however, has held Mg r-Pennington immunity has
expanded from its initial purpose of shielding a defendant from antitrust liability for effort
to petition government to pass legislation that would have monopolizing effects to now a
shielding “a defendant from antitrust liability for resorting to litigation to obtain from a cour
an anticompetitive outcome Andrx Pharmaceuticals, Inc. v. Elan Corp., PLC, 421 F.3d

1227, 1223 (1" Cir. 2005). An exception to this protection exists when a defendan
engages in “sham litigation” whem lawsuit is nothing more than an attempt to interfere

with the business of a competitdd. To prove “sham litigation,” a plaintiff must establish:

[72)

SO

t

() the lawsuit is objectively baseless and (2) the party bringing the suit had a subjective

motivation to interfere directly with the business relationships of a compdtitat 1234.
The court now considers whether Defendant De Spirito has sufficiently plead the
antitrust claims. Iiwombly, consumers brought a class action complaint againstincumbel
local exchange carriers alleging an antitrust conspiracy to prevent competitive entry into
local telephone and Internet service markets. The complaint alleged that the carriers
conspired to restrain trade by (1) engagin parallel conduct to inhibit the growth of
competitive carriers and (2) by agreeing to refrain from competing against one another.
complaint alleged that the incumbent carriers achieved this by making unfair agreeme
with the competitive carriers for access to networks, providing inferior connections

networks, overcharging, and billing in y& to sabotage theompetitive carriers’
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relationship with their customers. The complaint asserted that this common motivation
the incumbent carriers to form a conspiracy. The complaint also alleged that the incumi
carriers had agreements to refrain from competing against one another because they f
to meaningfully pursue attractive business opportuniti€e 550 U.S. at 551 n.2
(“Beginning as early as February 6, 1996, and continuing to the present, the exact di
being unknown to Plaintiffs, Defendants and their co-conspirators engaged in a contr3
combination or conspiracy to prevent competitive entry in their respective local telepho
and/or high speed internet services markets by, among other things, agreeing not to com
with one another and to stifle attemjg others to compete with them and otherwise
allocating customers and markets to one another in violation of Section 1 of the Shern
Act.”).

The Twombly Court found, however, that “a conshry allegation of agreement at
some unidentified point does not supply facts adequate to show illegatityat 556-57.
“An allegation of parallel conduct is thus mudte a naked assertion of conspiracy in a 8
1 complaint: it gets the complaint close to stating a claim, but without some further factt
enhancement it stops short of the line between possibility and plausibility of entitlement
relief.” 1d. at 577 (quotations and citations omitted). The Court then went on to discuss t
enormously high costs of discovery in federal antitrust litigatidrat 557-59. Ultimately,

the Court concluded that nothing in the “complaint invests either the action or inactig
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alleged with a plausible suggestion of conspirady.”at 566. See also Snaltrainal, 578
F.3d at 1268 (holding conspiracy allegations were “vague and conclusory,” “the compla
fails to allege when or with whom [the defendant] entered into a conspiracy” and “[t]h
scope of the conspiracy and its participants are undefined”).

Based on the instruction divombly andSnaltrainal, it is clear to the court that
Defendant has not sufficiently alleged a conspiracy under Section 1 of the Sherman £
Defendant has not described with whom Plaintiff is in a conspiracy or where or when the
agreements were made. Defendant has not explained how Plaintiff's behavior plausi
suggests a conspiracy. Defendant has failedlege that CIBA’s decision to stop selling
to Defendant amounted to anything more that would violate antitrust. Defendant De Spit
has not alleged how Plaintiff's behavior pldalgisuggests a conspiracy. Nor has he alleged
how CIBA Vision’s conduct has harmed or impacted the market. Defendant De Spirito h
not set forth how CIBA Vision’s alleged refusal to allow him to sell its contact lenses of
line has weakened competition between CIBA Vision’s contact lenses and those of th
competitors. Nor has Defendant De Spirito alleged any facts that would show the inst
litigation is “sham” either in that the suit“isbjectively baseless” or that CIBA Vision had
the “subjective” intent to “directly interfere” with Defendant De Spirito’s business.

The court further finds that Defendant De Spirito has not sufficiently pled a Sectig

2 refusal to deal antitrust claim because he has not alleged that CIBA Vision has d(
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anything other than refuse to deal with whomever it pleases. Defendant De Spirito has
alleged any facts that CIBA Vision has refused to deal for reasons other than its o
legitimate business purposes. The fact that CIBA Vision may have terminated sales
response to complaints’ does not make out a prima facie showing of conspliaogadnto

Co. v. Spray-Rite Serv. Corp., 465 U.S. 752, 763 (1984).

In addition to failing to suftiently allege either a Section 1or Section 2 violation,
on the substantive merits of Defendant’s antitrust claim, the pleading of the cause of acf
falls below that which is required. Prior cases have rejected the notion that a single br
can constitute a marke$ee, e.g., Generac Corp. v. Caterpillar Inc., 172 F.3d 971, 977 (7th
Cir. 1999) (“Product markets are not defined in terms of one trademark or anoth
trademarks simply identify the origin of agpluct. Not even the most zealous antitrust hawk
has ever argued that Amoco gasoline, Molbslaljae, and Shell gasoline are three separate
product markets . ..”). There is no allegation that CIBA Vision has a monopoly on contg
lenses. See also Sheridan v. Marathon Petroleum Co., 530 F.3d 590, 595 {7Cir. 2008)
(Posner, J.) (“Marathon” oil is “not a market . . . a trademark does not confer a monopg
all it does is prevent a competitor from attaching the same name to his product”).

While the court understands Defendant Dei®s contention that the market for
contact lenses is different because the bodeins must be prescribed by the eye doctor,

he offers no support for his follow-on assertion that this means each brand is a market v
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itself. Instead, as Plaintiff points out, foertain patented drugs prescribed by doctors,
pharmacists are not permitted to use a substitute, but there can be no contention th
manufacturer who refused to sell that drug fmarticular pharmacy would be liable for an
antitrust violation.

Defendant De Spirito contends that it is suspicious that CIBA had originally grantg
him permission to operate the websites and then withdrew that authorfzatimncourt

finds it not unusual at all that a trademark holder would authorize a third party to use {

at a

d

he

mark under specified circumstances and then later withdraw that authorization for a variety

of reasons. Defendant has alleged no facts to show that his contention that the withdrawal

was due to antitrust reason is plausible. Further, this change in authorization does not repder

CIBA's trademark claims per se without merit. If a trademark holder no longer authorizes

a third party to use its marks, any contidusse without authorization could possibly be a

violation of trademark law, as in the situation of a food or hotel franchise, for examplg.

WhatTwombly andigbal teach is that where there are other plausible explanations, it is npt

sufficient to speculate in a complaint and particularly to base that speculation on no facts at

’Defendant speculates out of whole cloth that the withdrawal occurred after CIBA

received complaints from other eye doctors, but the counterclaim offers no information pn

the who-what-why-where of these complaints. Further, Defendant De Spirito has dg

nothing to explain how the instant situation goes beyond a legitimate “termination [that]

ne

came about in response to complaints” nor has he explained how an agreement can be

inferred from the mere existence of complain&e Monsanto Co. v. Soray-Rite Serv.
Corp., 465 U.S. 752, 763-64 (1984).

16




AO 72A
(Rev.8/82)

all. Seelgbal, 129 S. Ct. at 1949 (if complaint alleges facts that “are merely consistent witl
defendant’s liability, it “stops short of the line between possibility and plausibility of
entitlement to relief”). Although Defendant [3pirito avers that CIBA’s concerns about
the counterclaim’s sufficiency problems “would be better addressed through routi
discovery than by dismissal with prejudic&ombly andlgbal stand for the opposite —
particularly where the expensive process of discovery in an antitrust suit is at stake.
Defendant De Spirito attempts to salvage his argument by contending that CIBA
rebates for eye exams in return for the puref@dsCIBA lenses discriminates against the

online sale of lenses by making the online askn effectively higher rate than the doctor’s

sale. This effective increase in price, Defendant contends, allows eye doctors to mak

larger mark up in their prices relative to what they would be able to achieve under a differ
brand. Thus, CIBA’s discrimination against online vendors acts as a kickback to eye doct
who agree to sell the CIBA brand. But Defendant De Spirito’s theory cannot account f
the fact that he admits that CIBA sells its contact lenses to other internet cust8esers.

Amended Complaint, § 14. The coupons,dntf are to encourage customers presently
wearing a different brand of contact lenseggddack to their eye doctor for a fitting and

to request the CIBA contact lenses. This indicates that there is market competition am
brands. Furthermore, as described above, a mere refusal to sell, without more, is ng

actionable antitrust violation. See Mr. Furniture Warehouse, Inc. v. Barclays Am.
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Commercial Inc., 919 F.2d 1517, 1522 (1Cir. 1990) (“A monopolist’s refusal to deal
becomes actionable under the antitrust laws only where the refusal is designed to hav
anticompetitive effect.”). Defendant De Spirito’s counterclaim does not describe th
anticompetitive effect.

Finally, Defendant De Spirito avers that because of the requirement that eye doct
specify a brand of contact lenses in the prescription, “contact lens manufacturers shoulg
required to act responsibly . . ., and not togar with the medical judgment of eye doctors,
make it more expensive or less convenient@orsumers to buy online, or otherwise act to
the detriment of contact lens consumeiSee Response [15], at 16. This argument may or
may not be legitimate as a matter of public policy, but nothing in Defendant De Spirito
counterclaim or response to Plaintiff's motion to dismiss explains why it is a violation g
antitrust law. For these reasons, the court finds that Defendant’s antitrust counterclaim f
to meet the standard for pleading as describdavombly andigbal.

C. Remaining Claims

In unnamed Count | of Defendant’s counterclaim, Defendant asserts that CIBA
conduct caused Defendant De Spirito and Hoosier Eye Doctor to “reasonably rely upon tf
agreement to and cooperation with the openadif the websites. CIBA Vision cannot now
withhold that agreement and cooperation without compensatidn.ff 33. In response to

Plaintiff's motion to dismiss this claim, Defendant argues only that the counterclaim do
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not need to recite legal conclusions and the “counterclaims allege that Mr. De Spir

reasonably relied upon Ciba Vision’s representations that he could operate the website {

now complain of, leading him to invest in its development and operation, but that Cilpa

Vision is now preventing him from doing so. Thasufficient to put Ciba Vision on notice

that he is entitled to the equitable remedy of recovering his expenses incurred due to fthat

reasonable reliance. There is no need to invoke the magic words ‘quasi-contseet.
Response [15], at 18. Itis not clear to tbertwhat this means and the court cannot discern
a common law or statutory basis for this cause of action.

In unnamed Count Il, Defendant avers that CIBA’s discrimination against hin
constitutes “impermissible unfair competitiond., § 35. Defendant has not responded to
Plaintiff's argument that Defendant has not identified any cognizable cause of action w
respect to this count. Moreover, Defendant De Spirito did not even attempt to further def
his “unfair competition” claim in response to Plaintiff’s motion to dismiss counterclaim
Thus, the court finds that Defendant De Spirito’s remaining two counterclaims fail to stg
a cause of action.

The court must next consider whether to grant Defendant De Spirito leave to amg
his counterclaim for the fourth time. (Defendant De Spirito filed his answer an
counterclaim on July 14, 2009. He amended the counterclaim on August 7, 2009. Fina

the court accepted Defendant De Spirito’s response to Plaintiff's motion to dismi

19




counterclaim as a new statement of his caakastion despite the fact that Defendant De
Spirito’s response contained new factual and theoretical allegations and he did not seek
leave of the court to amend his answed aounterclaim.) The court notes Defendant De
Spirito has had ample opportunity to further specify his claims, particularly where Plaintiff
provided Defendant two detailed letters pointing out deficiencies in Defendant|s
counterclaim.

Defendant simply has not made any effort to bring his counterclaims up to the
standards articulated fwombly andlgbal. The court notes, in particular, that other than
discussions offwombly andIgbal, as well as an explanation of the legal landscape of
contact lens prescriptions, Defendant’s response contains only two legal citations: ong of
which generally defines markets for the purpose of antitrust law tititgd Statesv. E.I.
du Pont deNemoursé& Co., 351 U.S. 377, 395 (1956); and a second which generally defings
“antitrust injury” citing toCargill, Inc. v. Monfort of Colo., Inc., 479 U.S. 104, 122 (1986).
There simply has been no effort by Defendant to explain to Plaintiff or the court why the
vague and conclusory allegations raised in his counterclaims are sufficient under the
pleading standards of Rule 8 as clarifiedwombly andigbal. Therefore, the court does

not grant Defendant further leave to amend his counterclaims.
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D. Motion to I ntervene
Hoosier Eye Doctor, Inc. seeks to intervene pursuant to Rule 24(a) and (b) argu

that the websites at issue in the litigationohg to Hoosier Eye Doctor and all of the

revenue generated from them went to Hoosier Eye Doctor. Hoosier Eye Doctor also states

that any actions taken by Defendant De Spretated to providing optometry services and

selling optometry-related products were taken in his capacity as agent for Hoosier &

Doctor. Therefore, Hoosier Eye Doctor argues, Defendant De Spirito cannot adequat

ye

ely

represent Hoosier Eye Doctor’s interests because he will argue that any alleged harm done

to CIBA Vision was committed by Hoosier Eye Doctor. The two parties also have differin
levels of insurance coverage.

Plaintiff opposes Hoosier Eye Doctor, Inc.’s motion to intervene arguing procedural
that it is untimely under this court’s local rules and the parties’ Joint Preliminary Plannir
Report, and improper under the same rules because Hoosier Eye Doctor did not seek |
of the court before filing the motion. Plaiffitalso contends that Hoosier Eye Doctor did
not comply with Rule 24(c)’s requirement that the proposed intervenor attach a pleading
its motion setting forth the claim or defense for which intervention is sought. Substantive
CIBA Vision argues that the interests of Hoosier Eye Doctor are adequately protected
Joseph De Spirito’s presence in the caseally, Plaintiff states that it would not oppose

the intervention of Hoosier Eye Doctor were the court not to allow Hoosier Eye Doctor

21

g

y
19

eave

to

Y,

by

[0




AO 72A
(Rev.8/82)

change the counterclaims raised by De Spirito and which already had been fully briefeq
Plaintiff's motion to dismiss counterclaims.
The court notes for the purpose of context that Hoosier Eye Doctor is and has b4

represented by the same counsel who represent Joseph De Spirito. Significantly, Hog

Eye Doctor does not inform the court what claims it intends to bring or whether it will be

joining Defendant De Spirito’s counterclaims. Hoosier Eye Doctor does state it “is like
entitled to file a declaratory judgment action” which would have to be consolidated with tf
instant action anyway. Hoosier Eye Doctor’s brief on its motion to intervene does n
satisfy the requirements of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedees-ed. R. Civ. P. 24(c)
(stating that motion to intervene must “state the grounds for intervention and |
accompanied by a pleading that sets outcthan or defense for which intervention is
sought”).

Again, in the interest of judicial economy, the court will not deny the motion tq
intervene on the basis of these procedural issues only. The court understands that the
for Hoosier Eye Doctor’s intervention is as the owner of the websites at issue and to prof
itself against any potential efforts by De Spirito to shift blame (although that may be difficu
under the present circumstances of De Spirito and Hoosier Eye Doctor sharing coung
Those domain names, however, relate only to Plaintiff's trademark and unfair competiti

claims. The only possible relation Hoosier Eye Doctor claims to De Spirito’s counterclain
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is that CIBA Vision has argued in its motion to dismiss that De Spirito does not ha
standing to bring the antitrust counterclaim.

Under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 24, intervention may either be as of right
permissive. To establish intervention as of rigintapplicant must show that (1) his motion
is timely, (2) he has an interest relating te finoperty or transaction that is the subject of
the action, (3) the disposition of the action may impede the applicant’s ability to protect |
interests, and (4) his interests are not adequately represented by the existing parties t
suit. United Sates v. City of Miami, 278 F.3d 1174, 1178 (11th Cir. 2002). Permissive
intervention is proper when “an applicant’s claim or defense and the main action hav
guestion of law or fact in common.” Fed. Giv. P. 24(b). Before granting a motion for
permissive intervention, the court must consider “whether the intervention will unduly delg
or prejudice the adjudication of the rights of the original parties.”

The court finds that on the basis of Hoosier Eye Doctor’s alleged ownership of ti
domain names at issue, it potentially has an interest relating to the property that is the sul
of the instant complaint. It is less clear to the court that Hoosier Eye Doctor’s interes
could not be adequately protected by De Spiridowever, in the interest of resolving all
of these claims in one litigation, and besauhe parties havenly begun to engage in

litigation, the court will grant Hoosier Eye Doctor’'s motion to intervene as to Plaintiff’'s

claims of trademark infringement, unfair competition, dilution and cyber-squatting only}
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The court will not permit the intervention of Hoosier Eye Doctor to re-open the issy
of De Spirito’s now-dismissed counterclaims. The court agrees with CIBA Vision that th
counterclaims had already been fully briefed by the parties and De Spirito had thi
opportunities to adequately plead those claims and was unable to do so prior to Hoosier
Doctor’'s motion to intervene. The court will not permit De Spirito to use the vehicle @
intervention to get a fourth bite at that apple, particularly where Hoosier Eye Doctor’s ov
pleadings demonstrate no basis upon which ldo&ye Doctor’s intervention would impact
the dismissed counterclaims. The court notes also that it did not rely on CIBA Vision
standing argument in dismissing De Spirito’s antitrust counterclaim and therefore th
cannot form the basis for Hoosier Eye Doctor’s intervention.

The court agrees that with the addition of Hoosier Eye Doctor to the litigation]
discovery will need to be extended. Thus, the court GRANTS Plaintiff’'s motion to exter
discovery for a period of sixty (60) days from the date of this order. Because the court
addressed the motions to stay and intervene, the court DENIES AS MOOT Plaintift
motion to stay discovery.

[11.  Conclusion

The court GRANTS Plaintiff's motion to dismiss amended counterclaims [13]

GRANTS IN PART AND DENIES IN PART Hoosier Eye Doctor’'s motion to intervene as

Defendant and Counterclaim Plaintiff [19]; GRANTS Plaintiff's unopposed motion tg
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extend time to complete discovery [26]; and DENIES AS MOOT Plaintiff's motion to stay
discovery [27]

IT 1SSO ORDERED this 10" day of February 2010.

/s _J. Owen Forrester
J. OWEN FORRESTER
SENIOR UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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